FILED

Jul 22, 2015

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

SUPREME COURT NO.:

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 32233-5-III

91986-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The State seeks review of the decision upholding the trial court's order suppressing the gun found in Cody Flores' pants, dated May 21, 2015, with an order publishing dated June 25, 2015. A copy of the decision is in the appendix at pages A-1 through A-16.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. May officers, consistent with *State v. Parker*, 139 Wn.2d 486, 987 P.2d 73 (1999), order a non-arrested companion of an arrestee to a position necessary to secure an arrest scene?
- 2. What is the proper standard of review of officer actions taken to ensure officer safety?
 - 3. What is the proper role of appellate fact finding?
- 4. What is the proper role of the exclusionary rule in Washington where neither the officers nor the defendant did anything wrong?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Officer Kyle McCain was at the Moses Lake Police Department when 911 received a call from a person who initially gave her name, then changed her mind and said she wished to be anonymous. CP 59. She reported that Giovanni Powell had pointed a gun to someone's head and was at 1120 S. Alderwood in Moses Lake. *Id.* Officer McCain responded to the area. CP 60. En route he was informed that Giovanni Powell had a warrant for his arrest. *Id.* Upon arriving in the area he observed Giovani Powell and another individual, later identified as Cody Flores, walking down the street. *Id.* Both had their hands in their pockets. Giovanni Powell is known to Officer McCain and he recognized him on sight. *Id.* In addition Powell is a known gang member/associate. *Id.*

Officer McCain drew his weapon, held it at the low ready, and said "Geo, you need to stop." RP 72. Both Flores and Powell stopped. *Id.*, CP 60. Officer McCain ordered both men to their knees, and ordered them to separate from one another. *Id.* Officer McCain was soon joined by other officers, including Officer Paul Ouimette. CP 60. Officer McCain took Powell into custody by ordering him to walk backwards towards him. *Id.* While Officer McCain was doing that Officer Ouimette ordered Flores to walk towards him backwards with his hands up. CP 61. As Flores was walking back to Officer Ouimette he volunteered, without

prompting, that he had a gun that Powell gave him. *Id.* Officer Ouimette told Flores to just keep walking backwards and they would deal with it in a minute. *Id.* Officer Ouimette then detained Flores and removed the gun from his pants. *Id.* At this point the telephone tip was corroborated and officers had reasonable suspicion to detain Flores and investigate further. In doing so they discovered he had a felony conviction, justifying his arrest for unlawful possession of a firearm.

In a hearing conducted pursuant to CrR 3.6 Flores defended on the ground that a *Terry* stop of Flores was invalid. The State agreed that there was no justification for a *Terry* stop, but argued that officer safety, particularly *State v. Parker*, 139 Wn.2d 486, 987 P.2d 73 (1999), justified Flores' brief detention and movement as a companion of the arrestee Powell. The trial court suppressed the firearm found in Flores' pants. CP 56. The court relied on *State v. Adams*, 144 Wn. App. 100, 106-07, 181 P.3d 37 (2008), to conclude "there must be articulable circumstances indicating the particular person in the arrestee's company poses a threat to officer safety to justify that person's detention and frisk." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in a published case.

The majority agreed with the State that *Terry* stop standards were not relevant, but then went on to apply, without citation, a novel standard of review and to distort the facts to reach its holding. The concurrence held

that the case should have applied *Terry* standards, affirmed on that ground, and criticized the majority decision for its distortion of facts.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

In determining whether to accept review from the Court of Appeals the Court looks at four factors: whether the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with other decisions of the Supreme Court or Courts of Appeals, RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2), whether the case involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington, RAP 13.4(b)(3), or whether the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, RAP 13.4(b)(4). This case meets all four tests.

- 1. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with multiple other appellate court decisions.
 - a. State v. Parker, 139 Wn.2d 486, 987 P.2d 73 (1999), and State v. Mendez, 137 Wn.2d 208, 219, 970 P.2d 722 (1999).
 - i. Analogy to passenger in car cases.

Both parties and both courts who have reviewed this case analogized Flores' situation to that of a passenger in a car. This is the situation where a companion of an arrestee is detained the most often, thus all of the case law occurs in this context. While there is no automobile in this particular case, the situation faced by the officers would not have been

materially different had Powell been the driver in a car and Flores a passenger, thus the analogies are appropriate.

ii. The trial court and Court of Appeals failed to follow Parker and Mendez.

The trial court, in its written opinion, acknowledged that under the 4th Amendment companions of an arrestee were subject to frisk. In *Mendez*, 137 Wn.2d at 220, the Washington Supreme Court rejected that analysis under Art 1, Sec 7, and replaced it with an "objective rationale" test. Notably, the court held that this was not the same test as that required for a Terry stop. *Id*.

In *Parker*, decided a few months later, a four justice plurality created a per se application of the *Mendez* test. They held:

We do conclude, however, that whether or not articulable suspicion exists sufficient to justify a patdown for weapons, the circumstance of an arrest falls squarely within the rule of *Mendez*. Thus, a vehicle stop and arrest in and of itself provides officers an objective basis to ensure their safety by "controlling the scene," including ordering passengers in or out of the vehicle as necessary.

The two justice dissent would have gone further, and allowed full searches of the passengers. *Id.* at 519-34 (Guy, J. Dissenting). Thus this holding in *Parker* is controlling law and on point.

In this case Flores was being ordered out of the metaphorical car and over to the officer to control the scene of Powell's arrest. While he was being moved by the officers he announced, without prompting, that he had the gun Powell gave him, corroborating the anonymous report. Officer Ouimette then took the gun from Flores as soon as he had him secured. This is a clear and straight forward application of the holding in *Parker*. The opinions in this case ignored this clear precedent.

While not controlling, the concurrence also ignored *Mendez* when it held the case should be decided according to normal *Terry* stop principles. *Mendez* clearly holds that the standard for this situation is not *Terry*, but an objective rationale. This rationale was present in this case.

b. State v. Collins, 121 Wn.2d 168, 173, 847 P.2d 919 (1993) and State v. Pressley, 64 Wn. App. 591, 825 P.2d 749 (1992).

When officer's actions are justified by safety concerns the court in Collins held "[C]ourts are reluctant to substitute their judgment for that of police officers in the field. A founded suspicion is all that is necessary, some basis from which the court can determine that the [frisk] was not arbitrary or harassing." Id. at 173. "We agree that under certain conditions, officers must be afforded some leeway; when a tip involves a serious crime or potential danger, less reliability may be required for a stop than is required in other circumstances." State v. Z.U.E., __Wn.2d__, __P.3d___, 2015 Wash. LEXIS 809 (2015) Slip op. at 18. Rather than

apply this deferential standard, Division III held "that in close calls challenged evidence should be suppressed." *Flores*, Slip op. at 8.

The standard of review for investigatory stops is a bit higher.

In evaluating the reasonableness of an investigative stop, courts may take into account the totality of the circumstances presented to the investigating officer. While the circumstances must be more consistent with criminal than innocent conduct, reasonableness is measured not by exactitudes, but by probabilities. In reviewing those circumstances, courts may consider such factors as the officer's training and experience, the location of the stop, and the conduct of the person detained.

State v. Pressley, 64 Wn. App. 591, 595-96, 825 P.2d 749 (1992) (internal quotations and citations omitted). This higher standard is inapplicable in this case, because the stop and control of Flores was based on officer safety, not investigatory concerns. Yet the Court of Appeals went beyond this standard, instead inventing a new standard of review of officer actions from seemingly nowhere.

In analyzing this case the court, without citation to any authority, held "When reviewing claims of unlawful searches and seizures, we often must isolate discrete actions of a police officer during an extended encounter, as if the actions are separate frames in a movie." *Flores*, Slip op. at 6-7. First, this holding mischaracterizes the evidence. The time from when Officer McCain ordered Powell to stop, and Flores stopped with him to when Officer Ouimette called Flores back and Flores

indicated he had the gun was on the order of a few minutes at most, and can hardly be called extended. Second, reasonable officers do not have Adam Sandler's remote from 'Click' to pause time, See Click (Columbia Pictures 2006), nor can they slow time to see the bullets flying at them, like Keanu Reeves in The Matrix. See The Matrix (Village Roadshow Pictures 1999). The court applies a superhuman standard of review, looking at things not as they appear to a reasonable officer, but looking at things as they appear to an omniscient being who can pause time and focus in on one event to the exclusion of all else. The speed and simultaneity of events may well be part of the circumstances facing a reasonable officer. In this case, they were.

The Court of Appeals' decision uses a standard of review found nowhere else in jurisprudence. Even applying this standard, the court still should have reversed the trial court and upheld the search, had it not cherry picked facts and divorced simultaneous events. The appellate court agreed that the officers could seize Flores when they ordered Powell to stop. *Flores*, Slip op. at 13. When Officer Ouimette arrived on the scene he had heard the radio call about Powell pointing a gun at someone's head and he had heard of Powell's outstanding warrant. RP 86. He saw McCain, who was focused on Powell, calling Powell back. He then started calling Flores back. RP 87-88. There is nothing in the record to

indicate that Powell's detention was complete before Ouimette started calling Flores back as the appellate court seems to hold. *Slip* op at 14. Quite the opposite is true, Powell was in the process of being called back when Ouimette took charge of Flores and started calling him back. CP 61.

As Flores walked backward he told Ouimette that Powell had given him a gun. At that point there was substantiation for the tip and the seizure ripened into an investigatory stop, and the officers still needed to secure the scene so they could deal with Powell's arrest. The trial court expressly found that Officer Ouimette ordered Flores back while McCain was securing Powell. CP 61. This is supported by Officer Ouimette's testimony that Powell was in the process of walking back towards McCain, but not secured yet. RP 91.

Officer Ouimette described the situation through his eyes. RP 86-89. He responded to the call. He had heard on the radio that a caller had reported a gun was held to someone's head. When he got to the scene he saw Flores at a position of disadvantage and Powell being called back. The appellate court agreed that Officer McCain was justified in stopping Flores at this point. Officer Ouimette was unsure of the exact details of why Flores was stopped, he simply knew a gun was possibly involved and Flores was stopped. McCain was busy with Powell and there was not time to freeze everything and discuss the issue. Instead Ouimette did exactly

what any reasonable officer would do, he called Flores to him to take control of the situation, control everything, and then sort it out. While this was occurring Flores told Ouimette Powell had given him the gun.

It is only by separating the events that occurred simultaneously in time and space by using a "stop motion analysis" that the appellate court found a rationale to suppress in this case. But this god-like standard is unsupported in case law. Instead the court should have deferred to Officers McCain and Ouimette's reasonable actions on the scene, as they were intended to ensure officer and community safety. Even if the court applies the more searching analysis applicable to investigatory stops, which this situation was not, the officers still acted reasonably based on how the situation appeared to them. Speed and simultaneity of events are some of the circumstances officers deal with on a scene. The appellate court applied a novel standard of review to ignore these circumstances and decide for the officers when the scene was secure. This was completely unwarranted by prior case law, reason or the record.

c. State v. Adams, 144 Wn. App. 100, 181 P.3d 37 (2008).

The State's position is also supported by *Adams*, upon which the trial and Court of Appeals purport to rely. In *Adams* Officer Jensen stopped a reported stolen car. Ms. Adams was a passenger. He detained Ms. Adams and placed her in handcuffs. Later Officer McCasland arrived

to assist and decided to pat Ms. Adams down, although there was no articulable suspicion she had any weapon on her, or was responsible for the stolen car.

Both the majority and dissent in Adams took it as a given that Officer Jensen acted properly in detaining Ms. Adams, ordering her out of the car and putting her in handcuffs. Officer Jensen also secured the driver in handcuffs. The question was whether Ms. Adams could be patted down after that point. She was already secured by the time the search of her person occurred. There was no indication of any sort of violence associated with the stop. By contrast Flores announced he has the gun from Powell as he was being secured, before he was patted down or placed in handcuffs. The officers had information that the arrestee Powell, whom Flores was with, had pointed a gun at someone's head. Officers McCain and Ouimette were more than justified in securing Flores, as part of the process of securing Powell. Just as the *Adams* court implicitly held that the officers were justified in securing Ms. Adams as they were securing the car and driver. If Ms. Adams had stated that she had a gun when she was being pulled out of the car, before she was placed in handcuffs, and the gun was what was seized instead of drugs, Adams most likely would have had a far different outcome. Division III's opinion conflicts with the very decision it purports to rely upon.

d. Internal Split in Division III.

In this case the concurring judge criticized the majority opinion for not deferring to the trial court's findings of facts and using loaded words to support its position. *Flores*, Slip op. at 17, (Brown J. Concurring). This is the second time recently that one judge of Division III has criticized another for engaging in appellate fact finding and supporting its opinions using facts not decided by the trial court. *See State v. Budd*, 186 Wn. App. 184, 208, 347 P.3d 49 (2015) (Korsmo J. dissenting), (citing *Thorndike v. Hesperian Orchards, Inc.*, 54 Wn.2d 570, 575, 343 P.2d 183 (1959); *Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, Inc.*, 153 Wn. App. 710, 717, 225 P.3d 266 (2009), for the rule that appellate courts do not weigh facts).

Here the appellate court held that "once Powell was safely in custody, the officers' objective rationale for seizing Flores evaporated, and the officers could no longer lawfully detain and search Flores." *Flores*, Slip op. at 13. This would be a correct statement of law if it were clear that Powell was safely in custody before Flores was called back. He was not, and this finding is not supported in the record, and is directly contrary to the trial court's findings. The appellate court is inserting itself into the actions of the officers on the scene, and deciding the exact second when Powell was secured, with absolutely no support in the record to conclude that Powell was secured before Flores was called back or when Flores

admitted he had the gun. The trial court's findings state that Flores was called back by Ouimette while McCain was securing Powell. The record does not reveal exactly what happened first, Powell was secured or Flores admitted he had the gun. This question was never raised at the trial court level¹, as the standard of review applied by the Appellate court is novel and the defense did not challenge that the officers were motivated by officer safety, instead arguing that the initial stop and call back were invalid under *Terry*. If Powell was completely secured first, it would have been seconds before Flores stated he had the gun. Given that Officer McCain would have been reluctant to distract Officer Ouimette from what he was doing with Flores, it is not unreasonable that Officer Ouimette would finish what he was doing with Flores, even if Powell had been secured a few seconds before Flores admitted he had the gun.

However, if it is critical to know what happened first by a few seconds, Powell was secured or Flores stated he had the gun, the proper action is to remand to the trial court for that determination. Facts should not be created at the appellate court level. Given the deference owed to officers in this situation, it should not matter which happened first by a

¹ Flores has argued this case, both in the trial court and appellate court, from an investigative *Terry* stop perspective. This is a perspective the State and both courts have rejected. However, records are created in light of existing law. When the appellate court came up with a novel theory, it is not surprising the record does not directly address it.

few seconds, Officer Ouimette, as a reasonable officer, would finish what he was doing with Flores before ascertaining what was going on with Powell. It also inserts the court into deciding when, exactly, a scene is secure. In *Adams* timing was not an issue because it was obvious the scene was secure at the time of the search. In this case was Powell "secured" when he reached McCain? Was he "secured" when he had been handcuffed? Was he "secured" when he had been searched? Was he "secured" when he was in the back of a car? It is these kinds of decisions that the court properly defers to the officers on the scene to make.

Review of this case should be accepted to determine the amount of appellate fact finding permissible in an appellate opinion and resolve the dispute in Division III.

2. This case involves significant question under Art 1 §7 of the State Constitution as to the Standard of Review of Officer Actions on the Street and the Purpose of the Exclusionary Rule,

As previously noted, the court of appeals adopted a novel standard of review. If the court is to adopt a standard of review that goes beyond the perceptions of a reasonable officer to stop motion analysis focused on only part of an incident this new standard involves a significant question under the State Constitution. The root of the exclusionary rule is to provide feedback to officers when they act beyond the scope of their

authority. However, they can only exercise their authority on the facts as they perceive them. If the court is to review officer actions based on a super human, 20/20 hindsight review, the exclusionary rule loses its feedback function for officers. As even defense counsel stated in this case "my comments, of course, are not intended to be advice to the officers on how to protect themselves, but from a strictly legal point of view." RP 102. But that is exactly what the original purpose of the exclusionary rule was, to give advice and feedback to officers when they go too far. The fact that the court is essentially giving up that feedback function in cases where the officer's primary concern is something other than investigation by applying super human standards of review and suppressing where officers act reasonably and in accordance with applicable law is a significant question under the constitution of the State.

3. This case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, specifically whether the exclusionary rule is officer-focused or defendant-focused.

The officers in this case did nothing wrong. Aside from possessing the gun, neither did Flores. He was cooperative with the police and did almost exactly what was asked of him. At the CrR 3.6 hearing the trial judge stated that Flores might feel a little bit grieved when he had done nothing wrong. RP 119. Defense counsel stated, as a preface to his

argument "Your Honor, my comments, of course, are not intended to be advice to the officers on how to protect themselves, but from a strictly legal point of view." RP 102.

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