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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The trial court erred in findings of fact 2.1 and 2.2 

The State continues to assert, "Officer Kyle McCain was at the 

Moses Lake Police Department when 911 received a call from a 

person who initially gave her name, then changed her mind and 

said she wished to be anonymous." Petition for Review at 2. This 

discrepancy was discussed fully in the Respondent's Brief at 16-

22, and needs little further discussion here. Plainly stated, there 

was no testimony or other evidence in the record to support a 

finding that the caller was a female who initially gave her name, 

but then changed her mind and stated that she wished to remain 

anonymous. None of the officers who testified at the hearing knew 

anything at all about the 911 caller; and the State never introduced 

into evidence an actual recording of the 911 call. 

B. The State may not raise issues for the first time in its 
Petition for Review. 

The Court does not generally consider issues raised for the first 

time in a petition for review. Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co., 136 Wash. 

2d 240,252,961 P.2d 350, 356-57 (1998) citing State v. Halstien, 

122 Wash.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993). An issue not raised or 
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briefed in the Court of Appeals will not be considered by the 

Supreme Court ofWashington. State v. Laviollette, 118 Wash.2d 

670, 679, 826 P.2d 684 (1992). 

The State raises two issues for the first time in its Petition for 

Review that were not raised or briefed in the court of Appeals: (1) 

whether the Superior Court's findings of fact were inadequate and 

whether the case should be remanded to the trial court for entry of 

additional findings; and (2) whether suppression of the evidence is 

the proper remedy. 

As for the issue of findings, the State itself drafted and 

presented to the trial court all of the findings of fact which the 

State now claims are in need of supplementation. Furthermore, the 

State never asked for the remedy of remand for additional findings 

of fact when it initially appealed the court's ruling. 

Similarly, the State now raises for the first time the issue as 

to whether suppression is the appropriate remedy. See Petition for 

Review at 17-18. The State never argued this position at the trial 

court nor at the Court of Appeals, and is therefore estopped from 

doing so now. Furthermore, all ofthe State's arguments against 

application of the exclusionary rule appear to be based on a theory 

that the officers acted in good faith, a concept that has been flatly 
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rejected in this state. See e.g., State v. Winterstein, 167 Wash. 2d 

620, 634, 220 P.3d 1226, 1232 (2009) ("There is no requirement of 

good faith on the part of the police"). 

C. The detention of Flores should be viewed as two parts. 

The Respondent has never conceded, and does not now 

concede, that his initial detention was proper, or that the cases 

involving the rights of passengers in automobiles are controlling. 

Nonetheless, it is necessary to analyze the seizure in question as a 

two-step process. The first part was initiated by Officer McCain 

when he first arrived at 1120 Alderwood Drive and espied 

Giovanni Powell ambling with Cody Flores along the sidewalk just 

to the north of the address. There he ordered Flores and Powell to 

stop and to get down on their knees with their hands on their heads. 

This part of the stop was probably not a Terry stop, as McCain 

never articulated any intention of detaining Flores specifically. 

The second part was initiated by Officer Ouimette, after 

McCain already had the situation well in hand. Ouimette acted out 

of a belief that Flores had been involved in the alleged gun 

incident, but never articulated any specific reasons (a) for believing 

that Flores was so involved, other than his being in close proximity 

to Powell; or (b) for believing that Flores posed a threat to officer 

safety, other than his being in proximity to Powell; or (c) for why it 

was necessary to move Flores, thereby expanding the scope and 

duration of the stop, as a way of facilitating the arrest of Powell. 

RP 81. This second part of the detention (initiated by Officer 
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Ouimette) had nothing to do with the arrest of Powell and should 

properly be characterized as a Terry stop, because Ouimette's goal 

was to investigated Flores' possible involvement in the gun 

incident. 

D. The Court should imd that Officer Ouimette's actions 
toward Flores amounted to a Terry stop. 

Whereas Flores argued below that his detention should be 

analyzed as an unjustified Terry stop that ripened into a 

warrantless arrest [Respondent's Brief at 27-45, 46-49], the Court 

of Appeals somewhat inconsistently held, in one portion of its 

Opinion, that the principles of Terry do not apply to this fact 

pattern while, in other parts of the opinion, applying those very 

same principles to the case at hand. See, e.g., Slip Opinion at 8-9. 

The determination of whether a Terry stop occurred should be 

viewed as a mixed question oflaw and fact. See e.g., State v. 

Thorn, 129 Wash. 2d 347, 351,917 P.2d 108, 111 (1996) 

(pertaining to the issue of whether a seizure occurred). Ouimette's 

restriction of Flores' liberty should be viewed as a Terry stop 

because Officer Ouimette specifically testified that the reason he 

called Flores back to him at gunpoint, with his hands on his head, 

was because he thought that Flores was somehow involved in the 

reported gun incident. RP 88. It is therefore subject to the criteria 

of reasonableness set forth in Terry and United States v. Botero-

Ospina, 71 F.3d 783, 786 (lOth Cir.l995). 

E. The permissible scope of a Terry stop was exceeded. 
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"The appropriate constitutional analysis for a stop precipitated 

by an informant is a review of the reasonableness of the suspicion 

under the totality of the circumstances." State v. Z. UE., 352 P.3d 

796, 801 (2015). Officer Ouimette knew nothing about the person 

who called 911, what they saw, how recently they saw it, or even 

whether the information provided was based on firsthand 

information. He certainly had received no information that Flores 

has been a participant. Thus, any suspicion as to Cody Flores' 

involvement in a crime was not reasonable. 

The permissible scope of any stop may, depending on the 

circumstances, be enlarged or prolonged as necessary in order to 

investigate unrelated suspicions that arise during the course of the 

stop. State v. Smith, 115 Wash.2d 775, 785, 801 P.2d 975 (1990); 

State v. Guzman-Cuellar, 47 Wash.App. 326, 332, 734 P.2d 966 

(1987). The peace officer is permitted to '"maintain the status quo 

momentarily while obtaining more information.'" State v. 

Williams, 102 Wash.2d 733, 737, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984) (quoting 

Adams v. Williams, 407 U.S. 143, 146, 92 S.Ct. 1921, 32 L.Ed.2d 

612 (1972)). But, to detain a suspect beyond what the initial stop 

demands, the officer must be able to articulate specific facts from 

which it could reasonably be suspected that the person was 

engaged in criminal activity. State v. Santacruz, 132 Wash. App. 

615, 619, 133 P.3d 484,486 (2006); State v. Henry, 80 Wash.App. 
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544, 550,910 P.2d 1290 (1995); State v. Tijerina, 61 Wash.App. 

626, 629, 811 P.2d 241 (1991). 

In State v. Cole, 73 Wash. App. 844, 850, 871 P .2d 656, 659 

(1994), a traffic infraction case, once the defendant was told to step 

out of the car, the infraction investigation was deemed to have 

escalated into a Terry stop. But a Terry stop was not warranted by 

the nature of the investigation (a safety belt violation) or the 

officer's suspicions (he apparently had none). /d. The pat-down 

search of Mr. Cole, moreover, would have been justified only if 

Trooper Slemp could have pointed to specific and articulable facts 

creating an objectively reasonable belief that the suspect was 

armed and presently dangerous. /d., citing State v. Collins, 121 

Wn.2d 168, 173, 847 P.2d 919 (1993) (citing Terry v. Ohio, 392 

U.S. 1, 21-24, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 1879-81,20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968)). 

Trooper Slemp expressed no concern that Cole might be armed, 

nor did he express concern for his own personal safety. His only 

reason for detaining Mr. Cole was to confirm his identity; and that 

was not sufficient grounds for the detention. Cole, 73 Wn. App. at 

850. 

As the Court acknowledged in Mendez, where "the purpose of 

the officer's interaction with the passenger is investigatory," the 

officer must meet the higher Terry standard. See State v. Horrace, 

144 Wash. 2d 386, 393, 28 P.3d 753, 757 (2001) citing Mendez, 

137 Wash.2d at 220,223, 970 P.2d 722. 
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What is striking in the case sub judice, is that the State never 

elicited from Officer Ouimette any rational explanation of why he 

found it necessary to expand both the scope and duration of the 

stop by moving Cody Flores from the position in which he found 

him upon arriving at the scene; i.e., kneeling on the ground, facing 

away from the officers, hands on head. No explanation was ever 

given for what Ouimette hoped to accomplish by forcing Flores to 

promenade backward to the sound ofhis voice. Officer Ouimette 

never testified that he was thought Flores posed a threat to officer 

safety. Instead, Officer Ouimette's explanation sounded more like 

he considered Flores to be a suspect in the crime that had been 

reported, in which case the purpose for his actions would logically 

have been to investigate Flores' possible involvement. The State 

bore the burden of showing that the nature, duration, and scope of 

the seizure were both necessary and reasonable, taking all relevant 

facts into account. Having failed in meeting that burden, the State 

would now like another opportunity to establish, in a re-hearing, 

what it failed to accomplish in the first instance. 

The Court should hold, as a matter oflaw, that part two of 

the detention (involving Ouimette) was investigatory, and 

therefore, subject to the higher Terry standards of articulable 

suspicion. 

F. This case involves an issue of substantial public interest 
that should be determined by the Supreme Court, to 
wit, the question of whether cases involving the rights of 
passengers in automobiles during traffic stops 
necessarily govern situations involving pedestrians. 
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The Court of Appeals held that the traffic stop cases are 

controlling, noting that nearly all of the cases involving similar 

detentions of innocent persons, encountered in the company of 

arrestees, involve car passengers in traffic stops. Slip Op. at 5 and 

10. The State would like to take the analogy one step further by 

applying a single sentence in Parker [dicta] and having it apply to 

the case of pedestrians as well: "Thus, a vehicle stop and arrest in 

and of itself provides officers an objective basis to ensure their 

safety by 'controlling the scene,' including ordering passengers in 

or out of the vehicle as necessary." State v. Parker, 139 Wash. 2d 

486, 502,987 P.2d 73, 82 (1999) citing State v. Mendez, 137 

Wash.2d 208, 220-21, 970 P.2d 722 (1999). The analogy is 

fundamentally flawed. Ordering a passenger to exit a vehicle in 

which the driver is arrested is not analogous to encountering an 

innocent pedestrian on a public street and ordering him at gunpoint 

to get down on his knees, facing away from the law enforcement 

officer, with his hands placed on his head, simply because he 

happens to be walking in close proximity to a person with an 

outstanding arrest warrant. 

The State misconstrues this statement in Parker. The Court 

there is not making a blanket statement that police always have the 

unconditional right to order passengers out of a car, regardless of 

circumstances. The qualifying phrase, "as necessary," simply 

means that they may do so if there is a need. 
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Furthermore, the State assumes that what is true in the case of 

an automobile stop is true, by analogy, in the case of the detention 

of an arrestee's companion, when the two are on foot in a public 

place, and not engaging in any suspicious or disruptive activities. 

The Court should make clear that a traffic stop of a motorized 

vehicle is fundamentally different from the detention of two 

individuals walking side by side down the street, because (a) the 

vehicle stop automatically "entails the seizure of a passenger, even 

when the driver is the sole target of police investigation." Brendlin 

v. California, 551 U.S. 249, 254, 127 S. Ct. 2400, 2405, 168 L. Ed. 

2d 132 (2007). 

When an automobile transporting passengers comes to a stop, 

the passengers must, of necessity, stop (and become seized) along 

with the car and driver. This is not true in the case of two 

pedestrians walking side by side along a public sidewalk where the 

police are interested in arresting, on an outstanding warrant, only 

one of the two individuals. Whereas people who are passengers in 

a car don't normally walk away when the car is stopped, a person 

who is on foot enjoys relatively greater freedom to continue on his 

way, even though his companion is placed under arrest. Officer 

McCain could have arrested Powell without seizing Flores. 

Respondent is aware of only one previous case that directly 

compares the rights of automobile passengers to the rights of 

pedestrians. See Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323, 327, 129 S. Ct. 

781, 784, 172 L. Ed. 2d 694 (2009) ("To justify a patdown of the 
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driver or a passenger during a traffic stop ... " in any event "just as 

in the case of a pedestrian reasonably suspected of criminal 

activity, the police must harbor reasonable suspicion that the 

person subjected to the frisk is armed and dangerous"). 

Moreover, (b) automobiles are inherently dangerous while 

pedestrians are not: "Because traffic stops are inherently 

dangerous, the police have a legitimate need to control the scene 

of such stops to ensure officer safety." Mendez, 137 Wash.2d at 

219-20,970 P.2d 722 [emphasis added]. This statement from 

Mendez implies that there are things peculiar to automobiles that 

present special dangers to women and men in uniform. We must 

therefore inquire what these characteristics are. Common sense 

dictates that the situation involving a stopped car is qualitatively 

different from that of encountering a pedestrian walking down the 

sidewalk. The automobile itself can become a deadly weapon, 

which may be used against the police and against innocent 

bystanders when driven. Additionally, a car is susceptible of 

having more hiding places than one's person. And when an officer 

stops a vehicle that is occupied by passengers, the officer cannot 

always see what is taking place below a certain line of vision. 

There are obstructions (sheet metal, bench seats, etc.) which can 

prevent the officer from observing potential threats to his or her 

safety. Thus Parker states, "a vehicle stop and arrest in and of 

itself provides officers an objective basis to ensure their safety by 

'controlling the scene,' including ordering passengers in or out of 
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the vehicle as necessary." State v. Parker, 139 Wash. 2d 486, 502, 

987 P.2d 73, 82 (1999). But for the very same reasons that a 

passenger in a vehicle may pose a danger to officer safety, 

justifying, in certain situations, ordering passengers out of the 

vehicle, there is simply no vehicle to order anyone out of in the 

situation of a pedestrian encountered in a public place. That 

heightened danger, inherent to automobiles, does not exist in the 

case of pedestrians. For these reasons, the traffic stop is 

emphatically not a good analogy to the case sub judice. 

CONCLUSION 

In conclusion, the Respondent urges the Court to accept 

review, and to affirm the Superior Court's order suppressing 

evidence, but on different grounds than those articulated by the 

Court of Appeals. The Court should find that the second part of 

Cody Flores' seizure by law enforcement officers was a Terry stop 

that was unwarranted in its duration, scope, and overall degree of 

coerciveness. The Court should hold that the cases involving the 

rights of passengers who are seized during traffic stops in which 

the driver is arrested do not apply to the case of pedestrians.